
 

 

Contact: 
Direct Dial: 
E-mail: 
Date: 

Miss Roz Hime 
01275 888094 
Roz.Hime@n-somerset.gov.uk 
Monday, 21 March 2022 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Dear Sir or Madam 
 
The Public Rights of Way Sub-Committee – Tuesday, 29 March 2022, 3.00 pm – New 
Council Chamber - Town Hall 
 
A meeting of the Public Rights of Way Sub-Committee will take place as indicated above.   
 
Please note that this meeting is a face-to-face meeting being held in the New Council 
Chamber, Town Hall. 
 
If you would like to attend in person as a member of the public, it would be helpful if you 
could let Democratic Services know via the contact email address above by no later than 
12 noon the day before the meeting. This will enable us to manage the meeting safely. 
 
The agenda is set out overleaf. 
 
Yours faithfully 
 
 
 
Assistant Director Legal & Governance and Monitoring Officer 
 
 
 
To: Members of the Public Rights of Way Sub-Committee 

 
Councillors: 
 
Ann Harley (Chairman), Robert Payne, Timothy Snaden, James Tonkin and 
Richard Westwood. 
 
 
 
This document and associated papers can be made available in a different 
format on request. 

 

Public Document Pack

Page 1



 

 

Agenda 
 
1.   Election of Vice-Chairman for the Municipal Year 2021-22   

 
2.   Public Participation (Standing Order 17)   

 
To receive and hear any person who wishes to address the Sub-Committee on 
matters within its remit.  The Chairman will select the order of the matters to be 
heard. Each speaker will be limited to a period of five minutes for public 
participation up to a maximum of 30 minutes. 
 
Requests to speak must be submitted in writing to the Head of Legal and 
Democratic Services, or to the officer mentioned at the top of this agenda letter, by 
noon on the day before the meeting and the request must detail the subject matter 
of the address. 
 

3.   Apologies for absence and notification of substitutes   
 

4.   Declaration of Disclosable Pecuniary Interest (Standing Order 37)   
 
A Member must declare any disclosable pecuniary interest where it relates to any 
matter being considered at the meeting.  A declaration of a disclosable pecuniary 
interest should indicate the interest and the agenda item to which it relates.  A 
Member is not permitted to participate in this agenda item by law and should 
immediately leave the meeting before the start of any debate. 
 
If the Member leaves the meeting in respect of a declaration, he or she should 
ensure that the Chairman is aware of this before he or she leaves to enable their 
exit from the meeting to be recorded in the minutes in accordance with Standing 
Order 37. 
 

5.   Minutes (Pages 5 - 8) 
 
24 November 2020, to approve as a correct record (attached) 
 

6.   Matters referred by Council, the Executive, other committees etc (if any)   
 

7.   MOD 34 - Blackberry Lane, Weston-in-Gordano (Secretary of State Order 
Decision) (Pages 9 - 24) 
 
Report of the Director of Development and Environment (attached) 
 

8.   MOD 41 - Hawthorn Gardens, Weston-super-Mare (Pages 25 - 52) 
 
Report of the Director of Development and Environment (attached) 
 

9.   Urgent business permitted by the Local Government Act 1972 (if any)   
 
For a matter to be considered as an urgent item, the following question must be 
addressed: “What harm to the public interest would flow from leaving it until the 
next meeting?”  If harm can be demonstrated, then it is open to the Chairman to 
rule that it be considered as urgent.  Otherwise the matter cannot be considered 

Page 2



 

 

urgent within the statutory provisions. 
 

     

 
 
 Exempt Items 

 
Should the Public Rights of Way Sub-Committee wish to consider a matter as an 
Exempt Item, the following resolution should be passed -  
 
“(1) That the press, public, and officers not required by the Members, the Chief 
Executive or the Director, to remain during the exempt session, be excluded from 
the meeting during consideration of the following item of business on the ground 
that its consideration will involve the disclosure of exempt information as defined in 
Section 100I of the Local Government Act 1972.” 
 
Also, if appropriate, the following resolution should be passed –  
  
“(2) That members of the Council who are not members of the Public Rights of 
Way Sub-Committee be invited to remain.” 
 
Mobile phones and other mobile devices 
 
All persons attending the meeting are requested to ensure that these devices are 
switched to silent mode. The chairman may approve an exception to this request 
in special circumstances. 
 
Filming and recording of meetings 
 
The proceedings of this meeting may be recorded for broadcasting purposes. 
 
Anyone wishing to film part or all of the proceedings may do so unless the press 
and public are excluded for that part of the meeting or there is good reason not to 
do so, as directed by the Chairman.  Any filming must be done as unobtrusively as 
possible from a single fixed position without the use of any additional lighting, 
focusing only on those actively participating in the meeting and having regard to 
the wishes of any members of the public present who may not wish to be filmed. 
As a matter of courtesy, anyone wishing to film proceedings is asked to advise the 
Chairman or the Assistant Director Legal & Governance and Monitoring Officer’s 
representative before the start of the meeting so that all those present may be 
made aware that it is happening. 
 
Members of the public may also use Facebook and Twitter or other forms of social 
media to report on proceedings at this meeting. 
 
Emergency Evacuation Procedure 
 
On hearing the alarm – (a continuous two tone siren) 
 
Leave the room by the nearest exit door.  Ensure that windows are closed. 
 
Last person out to close the door. 

Page 3



 

 

 
Do not stop to collect personal belongings. 
 
Do not use the lifts. 
 
Follow the green and white exit signs and make your way to the assembly point. 
 
Do not re-enter the building until authorised to do so by the Fire Authority. 
 
Go to Assembly Point C – Outside the offices formerly occupied by Stephen 
& Co 

Page 4



 
1  

Roz Hime, Democratic Services, 01275 888094 prw minutes 24112020 

 
 
 
 
 

Minutes 
of the Meeting of the 

Public Rights of Way Sub-Committee 
Tuesday 24 November 2020 
held virtually via Microsoft Teams 
 
Meeting Commenced:  15:00 Meeting Concluded:   15:30 
 
Councillors:  
 
P Ann Harley (Chairman) 
P James Tonkin (Vice Chairman) 
 
P Sandra Hearne (substitute for Timothy Snaden) 
P Robert Payne 
A Timothy Snaden 
P Richard Westwood 
 
 

P: Present 
A: Apologies for absence submitted 
 
Officers in attendance: Elaine Bowman and Lucy Roca (Development & 
Environment), Roz Hime (Corporate Services) 
  
 
PRW 
1 

Public Participation (Standing Order 17, as amended by new Standing 
Order 5A) 
 
At the request of the Chairman, a representative of the Head of Legal and 
Democratic Services read out a written submission from Eric Sage 
regarding Agenda item 6: Mod 41 Hawthorn Gardens.  Full details had been 
published in advance of the meeting. 
 

PRW 
2 

Declaration of disclosable pecuniary interest (Standing Order 37) 
(Agenda item 3) 
 
None. 
 

PRW 
3 

Minutes of the Meeting held on 28 January 2020 (Agenda Item 4) 
 
Resolved: that the minutes of the meeting be approved as a correct record. 
 

PRW 
4 

Mod 41 – Hawthorn Gardens (Agenda Item 6) 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 5



 
2  

Roz Hime, Democratic Services, 01275 888094 prw minutes 24112020 

The Director of Development and Environment reported on an application 
made on the 20 April 2000 to request that a route, in the ward of Weston-
Super-Mare, should be recorded as a Footpath. The original application was 
submitted supported by 12 user evidence forms, however, following pre-
order consultation further user evidence forms have been received. Such 
application for a Definitive Map Modification Order is submitted under 
Section 53(5) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. The effect of this 
request, should an Order be made and confirmed, would be to amend the 
Definitive Map and Statement for the area. 
 
The Director of Development and Environment advised the Sub-Committee 
that the Landowner had made representations that they have had 
insufficient time to respond to the Report and have requested more time. 
 
In discussion it was 
 
Resolved: that, in order to allow the Landowner sufficient time to respond, 
consideration of Mod 41 – Hawthorn Gardens would be deferred to the next 
meeting of the Sub-Committee. 
 

PRW 
5 

Mod 57 – Ruggs Lane, Cleeve, Secretary of State Direction (Agenda 
Item 7) 
 
The Director of Development & Environment reported that North Somerset 
Council (“the Council”) has been directed to make an Order, the effect of 
which will be to add a Footpath onto the Definitive Map and Statement, and 
to establish whether the Sub-Committee wish to object, support, or remain 
neutral to the making of this Order. 
 
Resolved: 
 
(1) that the relevant Officer be authorised to place on record at the time of 
the making of the Order, that North Somerset Council wish to retain the right 
to oppose any proposal to change the made Order following receipt of 
representations or objections; and 
 
(2) that the relevant Officer be authorised to bring a further report back to 
the Sub-Committee detailing the responses received to the making of the 
Order. At that time the Sub-Committee will confirm the stance that North 
Somerset Council will take in any forthcoming procedures; and 
 
(3) that the relevant Officer be authorised to confirm the made Footpath 
Order if no objections are received. 
 

PRW 
6 

Mod 60 – Frys Lane to Rickford Farm Burrington Secretary of State 
Appeal Decision (Agenda Item 8) 
 
The Director of Development & Environment reported that an appeal 
decision from the Planning Inspectorate was received by North Somerset 
Council (“the Council”) on 27 August 2019. The decision is based on an 
appeal made by Woodspring Bridleways Association (now known as 
Axbridge Bridleways Association) on 7 December 2018 under Section 53(5) 

Page 6



 
3  

Roz Hime, Democratic Services, 01275 888094 prw minutes 24112020 

and Paragraph 4(1) of Schedule 14 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 
against the decision of North Somerset Council not to make an Order under 
Section 53(2) of that Act. The decision of the Planning Inspectorate is that 
the appeal is dismissed. 
 
Resolved: to note the Report. 
 

PRW 
7 

Mod 63 – Claverham Drove to Kennmoor Road Secretary of State 
Appeal Decision (Agenda Item 9) 
 
The Director of Development & Environment reported that an appeal 
decision from the Planning Inspectorate was received by North Somerset 
Council (“the Council”) on 27 February 2020. The decision is based on an 
appeal made by Woodspring Bridleways Association (now known as 
Axbridge Bridleways Association) on 20 June 2019 under Section 53(5) and 
Paragraph 4(1) of Schedule 14 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 
against the decision of North Somerset Council not to make an Order under 
Section 53(2) of that Act. The decision of the Planning Inspectorate is that 
the appeal is dismissed. 
 
Resolved: to note the Report. 
 

 

 
 

 ________________________________ 

 Chairman 

 ________________________________ 

 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



North Somerset Council 
REPORT TO THE PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY SUB-COMMITTEE 

DATE OF MEETING: 29TH MARCH 2022 

SUBJECT OF REPORT: MOD 34 – BLACKBERRY LANE, SECRETARY OF 
STATE ORDER DECISION 

TOWN OR PARISH: WESTON IN GORDANO 

OFFICER/MEMBER PRESENTING: ELAINE BOWMAN 

KEY DECISION: NO 

REASON: THIS PROPOSAL IS OUTSIDE THE COUNCIL’S KEY DECISION 
CRITERIA 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

That the Report be noted. 

1. SUMMARY OF REPORT 

This report is to inform the Committee that following a Virtual Inquiry on 22nd June 2021 
North Somerset Council (“the Council”) received the Planning Inspectorate’s decision on 
26th August 2021 to confirm the Order. The Committee is reminded that at its meeting on 
15th November 2017, it was determined that the Committee support the confirmation of the 
Order when forwarded to the Secretary of State for determination. 

2. POLICY 

The maintenance of the Definitive Map should be considered as part of the management of 
the public right of way network and so contributes to the corporate plan “A Thriving and 
Sustainable Place” (a great place for people to live, work and visit) and “An Open and 
Enabling Organisation” (collaborate with partners to deliver the best outcomes). 

3. DETAILS 

North Somerset Council’s Public Rights of Way Sub Committee considered this application 
on 15th November 2017, whilst the application requested that these routes should be 
recorded as Byways Open to All Traffic, when investigated, it was felt that the evidence only 
supported one route and that the route A-B-C-D should be recorded as a Public Bridleway. 
The Committee formally resolved that a Definitive Map Modification Order should be made 
for the claimed route A-B-C-D as a Bridleway due to sufficient evidence having been 
submitted in support. 

The effect of this request would be to amend the Definitive Map and Statement for the area. 

Page 9

Agenda Item 7



The route claimed commences at the junction of Blackberry Lane and Valley Road, Point A, 
and proceeds along an unadopted track, known as Blackberry Lane and proceeds in a 
southerly direction for a distance of approximately 504 metres to a junction with Footpath 
LA 18/5, Point B. The route then continues is a south-westerly direction along Footpath 
LA18/5 for a distance of 106 metres to Point C, then continues to the south to Hill Lane 
ending at the junction of the B3124 (Point D) for a further 170 metres. Therefore making the 
total length of this route 770 metres. 

On 6th April 2018 Definitive Map Modification Order No 3 2018 was made to upgrade 
Footpath LA18/5 and part of Footpath LA18/4 to a Bridleway. Following the consultation of 
that Order, the Council received four representations, three of which were objections. 
Following the statutory procedure, the Order was sent to the Secretary of State to 
determine the Order on 17th October 2019. 

Due to circumstances around Covid Restrictions the decision was made by the Planning 
Inspectorate to hold a Virtual Inquiry. That inquiry took place on 22nd June 2021. As 
resolved by this Committee Officers supported the confirmation of the Bridleway Order and 
undertook this stance at this Inquiry. 

On the 26th August 2021, North Somerset Council received the decision made by the 
Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State following the Public Inquiry. That Inspector’s 
decision was that the Order should be confirmed. Details of the Inspector’s Decision can be 
found in Appendix 2 of this report. 

4. CONSULTATION 

The requirements of Paragraph 11 (4) of Schedule 15 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 
1981 state as soon as practicable after a decision to confirm an order, the authority shall 
give notice of the decision by advertisement and serving a copy of it on any person on 
whom notices were required to be served under paragraph 3 (2)(b) or 4 of Schedule 15 of 
the Act. Statutory objectors, the applicant and any supporters or interested parties were 
provided a copy of the decision letter by the Planning Inspectorate. 

5. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
This report is for informative purposes only. There will be no further financial implications on 
this matter. 

Costs 

The cost of advertising the confirmation of this Order will be met from existing Revenue 
Budgets. 

Funding 

Existing Revenue Budgets 

6. LEGAL POWERS AND IMPLICATIONS 

Section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. The Wildlife and Countryside Act 
1981 requires that applications which are submitted for changes to the Definitive Map and 
Statement are determined by the authority as soon as is reasonably possible, within 12 

Page 10



months of receipt.  Failure will result in appeals being lodged and possible directions being 
issued by the Secretary of State. 

7. CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

Improvements or additional routes added to the Public Rights of Way Network encourage 
sustainable travel by enabling the public to walk, cycle or ride a horse across our District 
reducing carbon emissions and improving our Environmental footprint. 

8. RISK MANAGEMENT 

As a Public Right of Way North Somerset Council have a responsibility to ensure that this 
route is kept open and available for users. No further action is required for the Committee. 

9. EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 

No - All rights of way are available for the population as a whole to use and enjoy 
irrespective of gender, ethnic background or ability and are free at point of use. 

10. CORPORATE IMPLICATIONS 

Any changes to the network will be reflected on the GIS system which forms the basis of 
the relevant corporate records. 

11. OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

As this report is for information only, there are no further options for the Committee to 
consider. 

AUTHOR 

Elaine Bowman 
Principal Access Officer – Ext 7406 

APPENDICES 

Appendix 1 – Location Plan EB/MOD 20 
Appendix 2 – Inspector’s Decision dated 12th December 2019 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

File Ref Mod 20 

Page 11



Appendix 1 
Location Plan EB/MOD 34 

Page 12



Appendix 2 
Inspectors Decision dated 26th August 2021 

Order Decision 
Inquiry held on 22 June 2021 

Site visit made on 1 June 2021 

by Alan Beckett BA MSc MIPROW 
An Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs 

Decision date: 26 August 2021 

Order Ref: ROW/3239569 
This Order is made under Section 53 (2) (b) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 
(the 1981 Act) and is known as the North Somerset District Council (Upgrade of 
Footpath LA 18/5 and part of Footpath LA 18/4 to Bridleway Blackberry Lane Weston-in-
Gordano) Definitive Map and Statement Modification Order No.3 2018. 
The Order is dated 6 April 2018 and proposes to modify the Definitive Map and 
Statement for the area by upgrading footpath LA 18/5 and part of footpath LA 18/4 to 
bridleway as shown in the Order plan and described in the Order Schedule. 
There were 3 objections outstanding at the commencement of the inquiry. 

Summary of Decision: The Order is confirmed. 

Procedural Matters 

1. The restrictions imposed in relation to public gatherings arising from the response 
to the Covid-19 pandemic meant that it was not possible to hold an in-person 
public inquiry into the Order. In order to progress the matter without significant 
delay, a decision was taken that the Order would be determined by means of an 
inquiry held virtually. 

2. I therefore held the inquiry on 22 June 2021 with the aid of Microsoft Teams 
technology. I am extremely grateful to all parties involved for engaging with this 
alternative arrangement during difficult times. 

3. In advance of the inquiry, I made an unaccompanied site inspection of footpath LA 
18/4 and that part of footpath LA 18/5 at issue along with Middle Hill Common 
through which the footpaths pass and the immediate surroundings. I commenced 
my inspection on Hill Lane, travelling south to north to Valley Road before 
undertaking a return journey. At the close of the inquiry, none of the parties 
requested that I make a further visit to the site. 

4. On the morning of the inquiry, Miss Susan Taylor attended wishing to make a case 
for the Order route to be recorded as a Byway Open to All Traffic (‘BOAT’). Prior to 
the opening of the inquiry, Miss Taylor had not participated in the Order process in 
any way; no objection, statement of case or proof of evidence as to the case she 
wished to make had been submitted in advance. Concerns were expressed by other 
parties that an adjournment would be necessary to consider any new or additional 
evidence which was sought to be introduced. After a discussion on this matter with 
the representative of the Axbridge Bridleways Association1, Miss Taylor withdrew 

1 The successor organisation to the Woodspring Bridleways Association which was the original applicant for the Order 

Page 13



her request and the inquiry proceeded on the basis of the Council and the 
supporters’ contention that the Order route ought to be recorded as a public 
bridleway. 

The Main Issues 

5. The Order has been made under section 53 (3) (c) (ii) of the 1981 Act. Section 
53(3) (c) (ii) provides that an order to modify the definitive map & statement 
(‘DM&S’) should be made following the discovery of evidence which (when 
considered with all other relevant evidence available) shows that a highway of one 
description ought to be there shown as a highway of a different description. 

6. An application to upgrade the Order route had been made in 2005 on behalf of the 
Woodspring Bridleways Association. In that application, it was contended that two 
routes should be added to the definitive map as BOATs. The application was 
supported by 34 user evidence forms (‘UEFs’) and two sworn affidavits.  The 
majority of the UEFs are dated as having been completed in 1998. It is not known 
why there was a time lag between the evidence of use being gathered and its 
submission to the Council in support of a formal application. 

7. It was the Council’s case that the evidence of use which had been submitted did 
not provide support for the routes claimed being BOATs. In the Council’s view the 
user evidence strongly supported the Order route as being a public bridleway but 
was insufficient to support the claim that a second bridleway on a slightly different 
route had come into being through long use. The supporters also contended that 
the available documentary evidence demonstrated that the Order route was 
historically subject to public equestrian rights, and that relatively recent use 
demonstrated by the UEFs was the continued exercise of a long-established public 
right. 

8. The evidence in this case therefore comprises recent use by the public on 
horseback and historic documentary sources. Where it is claimed that a public right 
of way has come into existence through a period of long use, the provisions of 
section 31 of the Highways Act 1980 are relevant. The tests to be considered under 
this section are: 

(a) the date on which the claimed equestrian right to use the route was brought 
into question; 

(b) whether the route was used by the public as of right and without interruption 
for a period of not less than 20 years ending on the date on which their right 
to do so was brought into question; and 

(c) whether there is sufficient evidence that there was during this 20-year period 
no intention to dedicate the claimed bridleway. 

9. In relation to the documentary evidence adduced Section 32 of the 1980 Act 
requires a court or tribunal to take into consideration any map, plan or history of 
the locality, or other relevant document which is tendered in evidence, giving it 
such weight as is appropriate, before determining whether or not a way has been 
dedicated as a highway. 

Page 14



Reasons 

Documentary evidence 

10. The earliest document adduced is the 1782 Day & Masters map of Somerset. The 
map shows the existence of a route from what is now the B3214 Clevedon Road 
running in a generally northerly then north westerly direction over Weston Downs 
to connect with what is now Down Road. The depiction of this route appears to be 
somewhat schematic. At its southern end, the route shown accurately depicts what 
is now Hill Lane and the access to Weston Lodge. Beyond the spur to Weston Lodge 
the route shown by Day and Masters diverges from that shown in the Order map. 
Whilst the supporters submitted a copy of the Day and Masters map with the Order 
route points A, B and C superimposed, the point which is identified as A (that is, 
the junction of Blackberry Lane with Valley Road) appears to be much further to 
the west on the Day and Masters map in comparison to A on the Order map. 

11. The route over the downs is shown by means of two parallel pecked lines; this is 
shown in the map key to represent “Open Roads over Commons or Downs”. As the 
route is shown crossing the unenclosed downs, the precise alignment of the route 
being depicted is likely to have changed over time. Whilst I concur with the 
objectors that the Day and Masters map does not show the Order route (or only 
shows part of it), the map demonstrates that a means of crossing the downs from 
Weston in Gordano via a route which commenced on Hill Lane was in existence 
when the map was created. However, the map is not of sufficient accuracy to 
demonstrate that the route being depicted is the Order route. 

12. Limited extracts from the Weston in Gordano Inclosure Award were submitted2. 
From the extracts received it appears that the award was made under the local Act 
of 1807 which incorporated the provisions of the 1801 General Inclosure Act. The 
Commissioners did not consider that it was necessary to set out and appoint any 
public roads as part of the Award and appear to have restricted themselves to the 
setting out of private carriage roads. One such private carriage road was named as 
‘Middle Hill Road’ which ran from a place called Down Gate (at a point 
approximately 60 metres south east of point A on the Order plan) to the awarded 
Down Road. 

13. The Order route is described in the Award as “One other plot piece or parcel of land 
commonly called or known by the name of Middle Hill and Down Lane containing by 
admeasurement three acres three roods and thirty four perches and numbered 137 
and 141 on the said annexed plan bounded on the eastwards and westwards by old 
enclosures which said last numbered allotment is declared to be subject to the right 
of way leading from Weston to Weston Down before mentioned”. 

14. Although not mentioned in the extract of the Award submitted, the award plan 
shows ‘Middle Hill’ as being the property of J N Sanders. ‘Middle Hill’ is marked as 
such across the centre of the common with ‘Down Lane’ being the narrower strip of 
land leading north from the body of the common to Middle Hill Lane at Down Gate. 

15. I have scrutinised the extracts of the inclosure award submitted and I can find no 
reference to the ‘right of way leading from Weston to Weston Down before 
mentioned’ which allotment 141 was subject to. The objectors suggest that this 
refers to a right of access to plot 141 from the village of Weston over land allotted 
to J N Sanders. This may well be the case, but in the absence of an extract from 
the Award which specifies the nature of such a right of way, it is not possible to 
determine conclusively whether the right of way being described was public or 
private. 

2 The award was made pursuant to the Act for inclosing lands in the parishes of Northweston in Portishead and Weston 
in Gordano of 1807 

Page 15



16. The Commissioners stipulated that the private roads were set out for the benefit of 
the owners and occupiers of the lands allotted “with free liberty for them and every 
of them and all and every other person and persons who shall or may have 
occasion to travel there to go pass and repass in through upon and over the same 
to and from such their divisions and allotments plots and parcels of land either on 
foot or horseback or with horses cattle carts and carriages loaded or unloaded at 
their and every of their free will and pleasure……”. 

17. The supporters submit that the description given by the Commissioners of who was 
entitled to use the private roads set out under the award indicates the award of a 
public right of way on horseback. It is the supporters’ view that the description 
given is virtually identical to that found in the award considered by Lieven J in the 
recent case of Craggs v SSEFRA [2020 EWHC 3346 (Admin)] (‘Craggs’) where it 
was held that it would have been within the Commissioners’ powers to set out a 
private road whilst giving access to those roads to the public on foot and on 
horseback. 

18. Although there is a similarity in the description given in the Weston Award to that 
found in the Shipham and Winscombe Award considered in Craggs, to my mind 
there is a significant difference in that in the Weston Award reference is made to 
the private roads as providing access for those having occasion to travel “to and 
from such their divisions and allotments plots and parcels of land”. Whilst the class 
of persons who could use the private roads appears to be unfettered, any use of 
the private roads was for the specific purpose of accessing the various allotments 
served by those roads and was not for general use. 

19. There is no such restriction found in the Shipham and Winscombe Award which 
described the private roads set out as being for the use of the owners and 
occupiers of the allotments “and all and every other person and persons 
whomsoever having any occasion whatsoever to go travel pass and repass through 
upon and over the same roads and ways and every or any other or either of them 
on foot or on horseback with horses cattle carts and other carriages loaded or 
unloaded at their and every of their free will and pleasure”. 

20. Accordingly, I concur with the Council and the objectors that the Weston Inclosure 
Award does not provide evidence of the Order route being set out as a public 
bridleway. 

21. The 1811 Ordnance Survey map shows a means of access to Weston Lodge from 
Hill Lane and a route from Weston Lodge to Down Road but does not show the 
Order route as an identifiable feature on the ground. An enclosed route which 
corresponds with the modern Valley Road is shown on the map. This map was 
published two years after the Weston Inclosure Award was made and suggests that 
the route used to cross the downs was via Valley Road and not via the Order route. 

22. In contrast to the OS map of 1811, Greenwood’s map of 1822 shows an enclosed 
route running from Hill Lane to Valley Road on the alignment of the Order route; 
the ‘bulge’ of Middle Hill Common is shown on the map as being just north of the 
access track to Weston Lodge. Greenwood described two types of road in the key 
to his map; turnpike roads and cross roads; the Order route is depicted by 
Greenwood as a ‘cross road’. The supporters submit that a ‘cross road’ has been 
held by the Courts in a number of cases to indicate a road between two other roads 
which the public have access to without the payment of a toll. It is contended that 
the depiction of the Order route by Greenwood in this way indicated that it was 
considered to be part of the ordinary highway network of the area. 

23. The depiction of the Order route in this manner by Greenwood would, at first 
glance, support that contention. However, the Greenwood map (along with the Day 

Page 16



and Masters map) is just one piece of evidence and is at odds with both the 
Ordnance Survey map of 1811 (which does not show the Order route) and the 
earlier Inclosure Award evidence which does not provide evidence of the route 
being public. 

24. An extract from the Weston in Gordano Tithe map and apportionment of 1840 
shows Middle Hill and Down Lane leading to Valley Road numbered as plot 40. The 
apportionment records plot 40 as being cultivated as ‘pasture’. There is no 
indication of a path or track over Middle Hill whereas an unenclosed track is show 
running from Hill Lane to Weston Lodge. 

25. The Ordnance Survey six-inch to one-mile map of 1884 shows the northern end of 
the order route annotated as ‘Blackberry Lane’ and shows a peck line route running 
from Hill Lane over Middle Hill on a route which corresponds in part to the order 
route; this path is annotated ‘F.P.’. The southern end of Blackberry Lane is marked 
on the map by a line or bar which extends across the full width of the lane at the 
southern boundary of what is now Brockley Cottage and suggests that a gate was 
located at this point at the time of the production of the map. 

26. The map produced in 1930 as part of the handover from district councils to county 
councils of maintenance responsibilities for public roads shows that Hill Lane was 
considered to be a maintainable public road as far as point C on the Order plan; no 
part of the Order route was considered to be part of the maintainable public road 
network. 

27. The survey of public rights of way undertaken under the provisions of the National 
Parks and Access to the Countryside Act 1949 describes path 4 as starting on 
Clevedon Road and running over Weston Common and Blackberry Lane to Valley 
Road. Path 5 is recorded as commencing on Hill Lane and running over Weston 
Common to join path 4. There were no structures such as gates or stiles recorded 
on either route. No objections were made to the inclusion of paths 4 and 5 as 
footpaths at the draft or provisional map stages. 

Conclusions on the documentary evidence 

28. Whilst the Day and Masters and Greenwood maps both show a route over the 
downs from Hill Lane in a manner which suggests that the route may have been 
capable of carrying public traffic on foot and on horseback, these maps are at odds 
with the 1809 inclosure evidence, the 1811 Ordnance Survey map and the tithe 
evidence, none of which indicate that the route was considered to carry a public 
right of way. The remaining late nineteenth century and mid-twentieth century 
documents are silent as to the status of the Order route, other than the documents 
relating to the survey of public rights of way under the 1949 Act where the claimed 
status of the route as a public footpath was not disputed. 

29. Taken collectively, the documentary evidence shows the existence of a means of 
access between Hill Lane and Valley Road has existed since at least 1809. The Day 
and Masters map suggests that making a journey over the downs from Hill Lane to 
Down Road would have been possible as early as 1782 although the alignment of 
that route is uncertain. Although it appears that access to Middle Hill would have 
been possible from both Hill Lane and Blackberry Lane, none of the documents 
adduced demonstrate, on a balance of probabilities, that the Order route has 
historically been subject to public bridleway rights. 

30. The Order route is currently recorded as a public footpath. If a public bridleway has 
come into existence over the Order route, such rights will have arisen through a 
period of recent use by the public on horseback. It is to the user evidence that I 
now turn. 

Page 17



User evidence – section 31 of the 1980 Act 

The date on which the right of the public to use the claimed bridleway was brought into 
question 

31. As noted in paragraph 6 above, the application to upgrade footpaths LA 18/4 and 
LA 18/5 was made in 2005 and was supported by a number of UEFs which had 
been completed in 1998. The Council submits that no evidence has been put 
forward to suggest that use of the Order route on horseback had been challenged 
or questioned by the then owners of the land crossed by the footpaths or any 
adjoining landowners. 

32. The Council’s records include a note of a telephone conversation dated 9 
September 1998 where the caller (a Mr Hawken) noted that he had ‘heard of 
moves to stop horseriders’ from using footpath LA 18/4. Mr Hawken also appears 
to have had concerns about restrictions being placed on grazing rights and access 
to fields. The note is brief and contains little detail other than what is set out 
above. 

33. The Council submits that in the absence of any action which called use into 
question, it would generally rely upon the date of the application being submitted 
as the date before which the 20-year period of use would be calculated. In this 
case however, the Council considers that the record of the telephone conversation 
and the UEFs being completed in 1998 demonstrates that some incident or event 
had taken place in that year which had challenged public use. 

34. That there had been some change in or around 1998 is given some support in the 
correspondence received by the Council as part of its pre-Order consultation. One 
correspondent noted that “the left-hand route you indicate C – F – E3 only came 
into use approximately 18 years ago, when the original footpath became 
irretrievably damaged by horseriders to the extent that horses could no longer use 
it. As a gesture of goodwill, an alternative route was offered by the village, across 
the middle of the common, route CFE”. This letter dates from September 2017 and 
refers to events 18 years earlier in approximately 1999. 

35. Pulling these limited threads together it would seem that use by horseriders had 
resulted in damage to the surface of the footpath. The suggestion that an 
alternative route could be used (perhaps on a permissive basis) may have been the 
event which prompted the completion of the UEFs and the telephone call from Mr 
Hawken. In the absence of any evidence of any other event which brought use of 
the claimed bridleway into question, I conclude that the events of 1998 did so. It 
follows that the relevant 20-year period of use for the purposes of section 31 (2) of 
the 1980 Act is 1978 to 1998. 

Whether the claimed bridleway was used by the public as of right and without 
interruption for a period of not less than 20 years ending on the date the public’s right 
to do so was brought into question 

36. A total of 34 UEFs were received in support of the application. The Council 
produced an analysis of this evidence and says that in relation to the Order route, 
26 of the respondents indicated that they had used it with 17 of the forms relating 
to use of the route on horseback. The earliest use is claimed to have occurred in 
the 1920s, but the bulk of the use on which the Council relies occurred between 
1969 and 1991 when 12 respondents claimed use of the route. 

37. None of those who completed a UEF appeared at the inquiry and given the passage 
of time, it is likely that some individuals are no longer alive, and some may have 

3 C – F – E refers to a route shown on the application plan which was not taken forward by the Council 

Page 18



moved out of the area. In addition to the Council’s analysis, I have also scrutinised 
the UEFs to establish the extent and duration of the claimed use and to assess the 
quality of the evidence submitted. 

38. A number of the forms have to be discounted in relation to a claim for a public 
bridleway as the respondents only provide evidence of use of the route on foot. As 
the route is already recorded as a public footpath, such evidence is of little direct 
value although one respondent notes that the route had been used by horseriders. 
Three respondents provided evidence of driving cattle across Middle Hill from fields 
either side of the common in addition to claiming to have used the path on 
horseback. These respondents may have held grazing rights on the common; 
without further clarification as to the extent and nature of the use claimed, it is 
difficult to separate out what may have been the exercise of a private right from 
use on horseback as a member of the public. 

39. Other respondents provided evidence of use on horseback for periods of time which 
were earlier than the period 1978 – 1998. Whilst such use has to be discounted in 
relation to the 20-year period under consideration, it provides supporting evidence 
of the reputation of the route as having been open for equestrian use during an 
earlier period. Two other respondents provided evidence of use with a pony trap; 
one indicates use of a ‘zig-zag’ route to overcome the gradient of Middle Hill, the 
other that the trap was used to arrive at the common and the pony would be 
ridden bareback around it. 

40. Setting this evidence aside, I find that there are 16 UEFs which provide evidence of 
use of the Order route on horseback during the 20-year period prior to 1998. Of 
these, 11 respondents claim to have used the Order route throughout the relevant 
20-year period, with the remaining 5 respondents claiming use for between 6 and 
19 years. Frequency of use ranged from daily to weekly. One respondent described 
his use as part of a circular route from Weston returning via Valley Road. 

41. Four of the respondents stated that the route used had changed and contend that 
the route C-F-E had been the route originally used. These statements conflict with 
the observations of a local resident noted above who states that the alternative 
route came into use in or around 1999; the majority of the user respondents 
indicate from the plans attached to the UEFs that it had been the Order route which 
they had used during their period of use. 

42. None of those who completed a UEF reported the existence of gates or stiles or 
other impediments to passage having been found along the Order route. One of 
those respondents who only claimed use on foot recalled that a gate had once 
stood at the Valley Road end of Blackberry Lane but was no longer present. None 
of those using the route on horseback recalled any challenge to their use; those 
who claimed to have driven along Blackberry Lane in a pony trap recalled being 
challenged in 1993 by the then occupier of Brockley Cottage. Whilst this may 
indicate the approach taken by the occupier to use of the lane by vehicles, there is 
no evidence of similar challenges being made to those using the lane on horseback. 

43. As none of those who had submitted evidence of claimed use appeared at the 
inquiry, it was not possible to examine further the claimed use. The objectors 
questioned the veracity of the statements on the grounds that the gradient of 
Middle Hill was such that it would be impractical for a horse to be ridden uphill from 
Hill Lane and dangerous for one to be ridden down it from Blackberry Lane. 

44. Whilst Middle Hill is steep, the gradient does not appear to have been an 
impediment to equestrian use of the Order route in the recent past. In addition to 
the UEFs a number of statements from people resident in the area had been 
received by the Council as part of its pre-Order consultation exercise; many of 

Page 19



these statements refer to equestrian use. A previous owner of Down Cottage noted 
that between 1997 and 2017 horseriders had occasionally been seen up and down 
the footpath. Another correspondent recalled meeting horses on the narrow section 
between points C and B on the order plan; another contended that it was use of 
the footpath by equestrians which exposed the underlying rocks on the path, which 
had resulted in further erosion. Others noted that equestrian use had ceased 
around 2010/11 when the owners of Weston Lodge had created a new gravel track 
to access their property from the south. These additional recent statements 
support and reflect the evidence of use found in the UEFs. 

45. Mr Quas’ evidence was that footpath 18/5 was overgrown when he moved to 
Weston in 1971. His written evidence was that the footpath had been cleared in 
around 1980, but his oral evidence was that this may have occurred in the late 
1970s. Waymark posts with horseshoes painted on them had also been installed on 
footpath 18/5 and 18/4 which remained in place until around 2010. Mr Quas had 
no recollection of a gate being present on Blackberry Lane, although it was 
acknowledged that a gate was currently on site. 

46. It is not disputed that there is a gate at the southern end of Blackberry Lane just to 
the south of Brockley Cottage, nor is it disputed that there had been a gate at that 
point at some time in the past; the 1884 Ordnance Survey map considered above 
indicates the existence of such a structure and the old posts from which a gate 
would have hung are present on site. 

47. Only one of the UEFs recalled the existence of a gate on Blackberry Lane which was 
said to have been removed. The gate was said to be at the Valley Road end, not 
near Brockley Cottage; no dates for the existence of this gate were given. None of 
those who completed a UEF recalled the existence of a gate or other path furniture 
at any other location on the Order route. 

48. If the gate near Brockley Cottage was either not present or propped open during 
the 20-year period under consideration, it is unlikely to have registered as a 
feature of the route with users. An open gate or one that is not present will not 
present an obstruction to users nor will it interrupt any use being made of the 
route. There is no evidence that use of the Order route by horseriders has been 
interrupted. 

49. Similarly, no evidence has been presented to demonstrate that the claimed use 
occurred as a result of permission being sought or granted. There is some evidence 
of the existence of a gate to the south of Brockley Cottage although there is some 
doubt as to whether the gate was present during the 20-year period under 
consideration. In any event, the presence (or absence) of the gate does not appear 
to have prevented use of the route by equestrians; the claimed use was not by 
force. There is no evidence which suggests that the claimed use was undertaken by 
stealth or in secret; many respondents recall seeing use on horseback. 

Conclusions on the user evidence 

50. There is a body of evidence which demonstrates uninterrupted public use of the 
Order route as of right throughout the 20-year period under consideration. I 
conclude that the evidence adduced is sufficient to raise a presumption that the 
Order route has been dedicated as a public bridleway. 

Whether there is sufficient evidence that there was during the 20-year period 
under consideration no intention to dedicate the claimed bridleway 

51. For a lack of intention to dedicate to be demonstrated a landowner is required to 
have taken action to make the public aware that he, she, or they had no intention 
of dedicating a public right of way. 

Page 20



52. The most common way in which the landowner’s intentions could have been 
brought to public attention would have been by the erection on the path of a notice 
or notices denying the existence of a right of way, or to place a suitably worded 
notice in the local newspaper. There is no evidence of such actions having been 
taken by the relevant landowners at the time. 

53. The current owners of the two properties on Blackberry Lane were not in 
possession during the period 1978 to 1998 and I acknowledge the difficultly they 
find themselves in in seeking to respond to a matter which had its origins a 
considerable time prior to the purchase of their properties and where those who 
were the owners of the property during the relevant period have long since 
departed. 

54. Whilst I have some sympathy for the position the current owners of property along 
Blackberry Lane find themselves in, the provisions of section 31 of the 1980 Act are 
quite clear; evidence sufficient to demonstrate of a lack of intention to dedicate 
public bridleway rights has to be derived from the actions of those who were in 
possession of the land at the relevant time. No evidence has been submitted which 
is contemporaneous with the 20-year period under consideration which shows that 
overt attempts were made to prevent public use of the Order route on horseback or 
to inform users during that period that the way was not a public bridleway. 

Other matters 

55. A number of the objectors refer to the impact of equestrian use of the footpaths 
may have upon the flora and fauna of Middle Hill Common. Reference has also 
been made in some of the consultation responses to the erosion of the soil and 
exposure of the underlying rock on the line of footpath 18/5 as a result of previous 
use of the path by equestrians. Whilst I acknowledge these concerns, the process 
under section 53 of the 1981 Act is to determine whether a public bridleway has 
come into existence through long use. Whilst environmental matters are a 
legitimate concern for the objectors to raise, the impact the claimed bridleway may 
have upon current or future land use is not a matter which I can take into account 
and does not provide a reason for not confirming the Order. 

56. The objectors are also concerned that their current personal use of their property 
will be adversely affected; horseriders would be able to see into the upper floor 
rooms of their houses due to the height of the rider and the relative height of the 
house to the slope of Blackberry Lane. The garden of Down Cottage is in two parts 
and is set behind walls and fences either side of the lane; the occupiers are 
concerned that everyday management of the property will be made more difficult if 
equestrian use of the land occurs. It is felt that such use would contravene the 
right to peaceful enjoyment of the property. 

57. Although the matters raised by the objectors relating to the impact upon personal 
property are matters relating to Article 8 and/or Article 1 of the First Protocol of the 
Convention on Human Rights, these provisions are not engaged by section 53 of 
the 1981 Act where the only matter to be determined is whether public rights exist 
in law. 

58. The Order seeks to record a public right of way which already exists under the law. 
There is no consideration of the effect of the public right of way on individuals and 
their human rights, and confirmation of the Order would not result in a 
determination of any private, human or civil rights. It is not possible to interpret 
section 53 of the 1981 Act in such a way that it is compatible with the Convention 
rights. A decision to confirm an Order made under section 53 of the 1981 Act is 
lawful under section 6(2) of the Human Rights Act 1998. 

Page 21



59. It was suggested that the correct line of the bridleway was from Valley Road 
towards Weston Lodge Farm and then via Weston Lodge to Hill Lane. A neighbour 
of some of the objectors who has lived on Valley Road all her life had used the 
Order route to walk to school but had known this alternative route to be described 
as ‘the bridleway’. It may be that there has at some time been a means of access 
on the route described (and it may be this route which was shown on the Day & 
Masters map), but the evidence of use submitted in this case is of use of the Order 
route as a means of travel between Hill Lane and Valley Road, and not some other 
route. 

Conclusions on statutory dedication 

60. I conclude that the evidence of use of the Order route on horseback by the public, 
as of right and without interruption throughout the period between 1978 and 1998, 
is sufficient to raise a presumption of dedication of the route as a public bridleway. 

61. There is no evidence of challenges having been made to those using the route on 
horseback and insufficient evidence of the landowners during that period 
demonstrating to the public there was no intention to dedicate a public bridleway. 
It follows that I also conclude that the presumption raised by the user evidence has 
not been rebutted. 

62. It follows that I am satisfied that the evidence before me is sufficient to show, on a 
balance of probabilities, that a public bridleway subsists over the Order route. 

Overall Conclusion 

63. Having regard to these and all other matters raised during the public inquiry and in 
the written representations, I conclude that the Order should be confirmed. 

Formal Decision 

64. I confirm the Order. 

Alan Beckett 

Inspector 

Page 22



APPEARANCES 

For North Somerset District Council: 

Elaine Bowman Principal Access Officer 

For Axbridge Bridleway Association: 

Ann Gawthorpe 

Objectors: 

Charles Dowden 

Rebecca Hall 

Neville Hall 

Simon Maughan 

Ian Holding 

Interested Party: 

David Quas 

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 

North Somerset Council 
 
REPORT TO THE PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY SUB COMMITTEE 
 
DATE OF MEETING:  29TH MARCH 2022 
 
SUBJECT OF REPORT: MOD 41 – HAWTHORN GARDENS 
 
TOWN OR PARISH: WESTON-SUPER-MARE 
 
OFFICER/MEMBER PRESENTING: ELAINE BOWMAN 
 
KEY DECISION: NO 
 
REASON: THIS PROPOSAL IS OUTSIDE OF THE COUNCIL’S KEY DECISION 
CRITERIA 
 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
It is recommended that  
 
(i) the Public Rights of Way Sub Committee authorise the making of a Definitive Map 

Modification Order adding the route A-B as shown on the attached Location Plan as 
a  Footpath to the Definitive Map on the grounds that there is sufficient evidence to 
show that a public Footpath has been established under Section 53(3)(b) and (c) of 
the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981; and  

(ii) if no objections are made and sustained, that authorisation be given for the 
confirmation of the Order; and  

(iii) if objections are made, that the Order will be forwarded to the Secretary of State for 
determination.  If this happens, subject to officers being content that there was no 
significant change to the balance of evidence, the Council will support the Order 
through any subsequent procedure.  

 
1. SUMMARY OF REPORT 
 
This report considers an application which was made on the 20th April 2000.  That 
application requested that a route, in the ward of Weston-Super-Mare, should be recorded 
as a Footpath. The original application was submitted supported by 12 user evidence forms 
and supporting letters, however, following pre-order consultation further user evidence 
forms have been received. Such application for a Definitive Map Modification Order is 
submitted under Section 53(5) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. The effect of this 
request, should an Order be made and confirmed, would be to amend the Definitive Map 
and Statement for the area.   
 
This report is based on user documentary evidence. A Location Plan EB/MOD 41, showing 
the claimed route A-B is attached.  
 

Page 25

Agenda Item 8



2 
 

In order that members may consider the evidence relating to this application, further details 
about the claim itself, the basis of the application, and an analysis of the evidence are 
included in the Appendices to this report, listed below.  Also listed below are additional 
documents which have been looked at when assessing this application and are attached to 
this report.   Members are welcome to inspect the files containing the information relating to 
this application, by arrangement with the Public Rights of Way Section. 
 
Location Map EB/MOD 41 
 
Appendix 1 – The Legal basis for deciding the claim 
Appendix 2 – History and Description of the Claim 
Appendix 3 – Analysis of the Historical Documentary Evidence 
Appendix 4 – Analysis of User Evidence Forms  
Appendix 5 – Consultation and Landowner Responses 
Appendix 6 – Summary of Evidence and Conclusion 
Document 1 – Definitive Map Process – Draft Map  
Document 2 – Definitive Map Process – Draft Modifications Map  
Document 3 – Definitive Map  
Document 4 – User Evidence Table 
 
2. POLICY 
 
The maintenance of the Definitive Map should be considered as part of the management of 
the public right of way network and so contributes to the corporate plan “A Thriving and 
Sustainable Place” (a great place for people to live, work and visit) and “An Open and 
Enabling Organisation” (collaborate with partners to deliver the best outcomes). 
 
3. DETAILS 
 
Background 
 
i)    The Legal Situation 
 
North Somerset Council, as Surveying Authority, is under a duty imposed by the Wildlife 
and Countryside Act 1981, Section 53(2) to keep the Definitive Map and Statement under 
continuous review. This includes determining duly made applications for Definitive Map 
Modification Orders. 
 
The statutory provisions are quoted in Appendix 1. 
 
ii) The Role of the Committee 
 
The Committee is required to determine whether or not a Definitive Map Modification Order 
should be made. This is a quasi-judicial decision and it is therefore essential that 
members are fully familiar with all the available evidence. Applications must be 
decided on the facts of the case, there being no provision within the legislation for 
factors such as desirability or suitability to be taken into account. It is also important 
to recognise that in many cases the evidence is not fully conclusive, so that it is often 
necessary to make a judgement based on the balance of probabilities. 
 
The Committee should be aware that its decision is not the final stage of the procedure. 
Where it is decided that an Order should be made, the Order must be advertised. If 
objections are received, the Order must be referred, with the objections and any 

Page 26



3 
 

representations, to the Planning Inspectorate who act for the Secretary of State for Food 
and Rural Affairs for determination. Where the Committee decides that an order should not 
be made, the applicant may appeal to the Planning Inspectorate.  
 
Conclusion 
 
This report relates to the route A-B, which is not currently recorded on the Definitive Map.  It 
is necessary for the Committee to consider whether, given the evidence available, that a 
right of way which is not shown in the map and statement subsists or is reasonably alleged 
to subsist over land in the area to which the map relates, being a right of way such that the 
land over which the right subsists is a public path, a restricted byway or, subject to section 
54A, a byway open to all traffic. 
 
If the Committee believes in respect of the claimed section that the relevant test has been 
adequately met, it should determine that a Definitive Map Modification Order should be 
made. If not, the determination should be that no order should be made.  See Appendix 1. 
 
4. CONSULTATION 
 
Although North Somerset Council is not required to carry out consultations at this stage 
affected landowners have been contacted.  In addition to this Weston-Super-Mare Town 
Council, Local members, interested parties and relevant user groups have also been 
included.  Detail of the correspondence that has been received following these 
consultations is detailed in Appendix 5. 
  
5. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
At present the council is required to assess the information available to it to determine 
whether there is sufficient evidence to support the application.  There have been no 
financial implications during this process. If authority is given for an Order to be made then 
the Council will incur financial expenditure in line with the advertisement of the Order.  
Further cost will be incurred if this matter needs to be determined by a Public Inquiry.  
These financial considerations must not form part of the Committee’s decision.   
 
Costs 
To be met from existing Revenue Budget. 
 
Funding 
To be met from existing Revenue Budget. 
 
6. LEGAL POWERS AND IMPLICATIONS 
 
Section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981.  The Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 
requires that applications which are submitted for changes to the Definitive Map and 
Statement are determined by the authority as soon as is reasonably possible, within 12 
months of receipt.  Failure will result in appeals being lodged and possible directions being 
issued by the Secretary of State. 
 

Page 27



4 
 

7. CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
Improvements or additional routes added to the Public Rights of Way Network encourage 
sustainable travel by enabling the public to walk, cycle or ride a horse across our District 
reducing carbon emissions and improving our Environmental footprint. 
 
8. RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
Due to the number of outstanding applications awaiting determination officers of North 
Somerset Council, in conjunction with the PROW Rights of Way Sub Committee have 
agreed a three-tier approach when determining the directed applications. A report was 
presented to the Committee in November 2016 which outlined a more streamline approach.   
This could result in challenges being made against the Council for not considering all 
evidence.   
 
The applicant has the right to appeal to the Secretary of State who may change the 
decision of the Council (if the Council decided not to make an Order) and issue a direction 
that an Order should be made.  Alternatively, if an Order is made objections can lead to a 
Public Inquiry. 
 
9. EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
No - Public rights of way are available for the population as a whole to use and enjoy 
irrespective of gender, ethnic background or ability and are free at point of use. 
 
10. CORPORATE IMPLICATIONS 
 
Any changes to the network will be reflected on the GIS system which forms the basis of 
the relevant corporate records.  
 
11. OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 
The options that need to be considered are: 
 
1. Whether the evidence supports the making of a Definitive Map Modification Order for 

a Footpath over the route A-B. 
2. Whether the application should be denied as there is insufficient evidence to support 

the making of an Order for a Footpath over the route A-B.  
3. That it is understood that if an Order is made and receives objections, the Order will 

be forwarded to the Secretary of State for determination.  If this happens, subject to 
the Officers being content that there was no significant change to the balance of 
evidence; that authority is given for the Council to support the Order at any 
subsequent Public Inquiry.  

 
 AUTHOR 
 
Elaine Bowman, Principal Access Officer, Access Team, Natural Environment 
Telephone 01934 888802 
BACKGROUND PAPERS: - Public Rights of Way File Mod 41 
 

 
 

Page 28



5 
 

LOCATION MAP EB/MOD 41 
 

Page 29



6 
 

APPENDIX 1 
The Legal Basis for Deciding the Claim 
 
1. The application has been made under Section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 

1981, which requires the Council as Surveying Authority to bring and then keep the 
Definitive Map and Statement up to date, then making by Order such modifications to 
them as appear to be required as a result of the occurrence of certain specified 
events.  

 
2. Section 53(3)(b) describes one event as,” the expiration, in relation to any way in the 

area to which the map relates, of any period such that the enjoyment by the public of 
the way during that period raises a presumption that the way has been dedicated as 
a public path or restricted byway”.  See paragraph 4. 

 
Subsection 53(3) (c) describes another event as, “the discovery by the authority of 
evidence which (when considered with all other relevant evidence available to them) 
shows –  
 
(i) “that a right of way which is not shown in the map and statement subsists or is 

reasonably alleged to subsist over the land in the area to which the map 
relates, being a right of way such that the land over which the right subsists is 
a public path, a restricted byway or, subject to section 54A, a byway open to 
all traffic” 

 
The basis of the application in respect of the Footpath is that the requirement of 
Section 53(3)(c)(i) has been fulfilled. 

 
3. Section 32 of the Highways Act 1980 relating to evidence of dedication of way as 

highway states “ A court or other tribunal, before determining whether a way has or 
has not been dedicated as a highway, or the date on which such dedication, if any, 
took place, shall take into consideration any map, plan or history of the locality or 
other relevant document which is tendered in evidence, and shall give such weight 
thereto as the court or tribunal considers justified by the circumstances, including the 
antiquity of the tendered documents, the status of the person by whom and the 
purpose for which it was made or compiled, and the custody in which it has been 
kept and from which it is produced”. 

 
4. Section 31 (1) of the Highways Act 1980 provides that, “Where a way over land, 

other than a way of such character that use of it by the public could not give rise at 
common law to any presumption of dedication, has actually been enjoyed by the 
public as of right and without interruption for a full period of twenty years, the way is 
deemed to have been dedicated as a highway unless there is sufficient evidence that 
there was no intention during that period to dedicate it”. 

 
Section 31 (2) states, “the period of twenty years referred to in subsection (1) above 
is to be calculated retrospectively from the date when the right of the public to use 
the way is brought into question whether by a notice or otherwise”. 

 
Section 31 (3) states, “Where the owner of the land over which any such way as 
aforesaid passes- 
(a) has erected in such manner as to be visible by persons using the way a notice 

inconsistent with the dedication of the way as a highway; and 

Page 30



7 
 

(b) has maintained the notice after the 1st January 1934, or any later date on 
which it was erected, 

the notice, in the absence of proof of a contrary intention, is sufficient evidence to 
negative the intention to dedicate the way as a highway. 
 
For a public highway to become established at common law there must have been 
dedication by the landowner and acceptance by the public. It is necessary to show 
either that the landowner accepted the use that was being made of the route or for 
the use to be so great that the landowners must have known and taken no action.  A 
deemed dedication may be inferred from a landowners’ inaction.  In prescribing the 
nature of the use required for an inference of dedication to be drawn, the same 
principles were applied as in the case of a claim that a private right of way had been 
dedicated; namely the use had been without force, without secrecy and without 
permission.   

 
The Committee is reminded that in assessing whether the paths can be shown 
to be public rights of way, it is acting in a quasi-judicial role. It must look only 
at the relevant evidence and apply the relevant legal test. 

 
5. Modification orders are not concerned with the suitability for use of the alleged rights. 

If there is a question of whether a path or way is suitable for its legal status or that a 
particular way is desirable for any reason, then other procedures exist to create, 
extinguish, divert or regulate use, but such procedures are under different powers 
and should be considered separately. 

 
 
 

Page 31



8 
 

APPENDIX 2 
 

History and Description of the Claim 
 
1. An application for a Modification to the Definitive Map and Statement was received 

dated 20th April 2000 from Mr E Sage.  The basis of this application was that a route 
which runs from Hawthorn Gardens to its junction with Footpath AX 31/33 should be 
recorded as a Footpath.  Submitted with the application were 12 User Evidence 
Forms and 10 letters of support which the applicant felt illustrated the use that had 
been made of this route together with the details of the landowners notified of the 
claim. The applicant did not submit any historical documentary evidence with their 
application. Following pre-order consultations, a further 15 User Evidence forms 
have been received. A full analysis of this information is included in Appendix 4 of 
this report. 

 
This matter is currently recorded on the Definitive Map Register as Mod 41. 

 
It should be noted that the Council has undertaken additional research into records 
that are held within the Council.  These are detailed in Appendix 3 of this report. 

 
2. The 2000 application claims that a Footpath should be recorded over one route that 

is not currently recorded on the Definitive Map. The claimed route falls within the 
ward of Weston-super-Mare.  

3. The route being claimed commences from the end of an adopted highway known as 
Hawthorn Gardens (Point A) and proceeds in a west, north-westerly direction to its 
junction with Footpath AX 31/33 (Point B) being a distance of approximately 143 
metres.  

  
4. This claimed Footpath is illustrated as a bold black dashed line on the attached 

Location Map (scale 1:1500). 
 

Page 32



9 
 

APPENDIX 3 
 

Analysis of the Historical Documentary Evidence 
 
The claim is based on 27 User Evidence Forms however, North Somerset Officers have 
also looked at the Definitive Map Process undertaken in the 1950s to assist this 
determination.  
 
Axbridge Rural District Council 
Definitive Map Process (1956) North Somerset Council 
 
The Definitive Map process was carried out over many years going through various phases 
which involved the area being surveyed by local people (Parish Survey) and advertisements 
being placed detailing that maps were being held on deposit for public viewing.  This 
process was carried out through a Draft, Draft Modifications and Provisional stage before 
the Definitive Map was published with a relevant date of 26 November 1956.  Any 
objections about routes that were included or routes that had been omitted were considered 
by Somerset County Council and amended if considered relevant.  
 
Draft Map 
 
On this Draft Map, the location of the route can be identified but is not depicted or coloured 
in any way. This would suggest that at this time this route was not considered to be a public 
right of way. An extract of this map is attached as Document 1.  
 
Draft Map Modification Plan 
 
Following the publication of the draft map, comments were invited from interested parties 
regarding the recorded public rights of way.  This map does not suggest that at this time, 
anyone challenged the omittance of this claimed route A-B. An extract of this plan is 
attached in the report as Document 2.  
 
Provisional Map 
 
Following the Draft Map Modification stage landowners were then invited to view the 
Provisional Map to comment against should they so wish. Unfortunately, we do not hold a 
copy of this plan, so we are unable to produce an analysis of the claimed route. 
 
Axbridge Rural District Council Definitive Map – Relevant Date 26 November 1956 
 
Th conclusion of this process was the production of the Definitive Map. This document 
legally records routes believed to be Public Rights of Way and their status. It can be seen 
that the claimed route A-B is unrecorded. The extract of this map is shown as Document 3. 
 
As the Definitive Map Process was to record routes believed to be Public Footpaths, Public 
Bridleways, Roads Used as Public Paths or Byways Open to all Traffic the fact that this 
route is not recorded does not mean that it did not carry public rights if later proven to exist 
or having become established since the production of the Definitive Map. It should be 
remembered that the Definitive Map process commenced in 1950. However, was not 
finalised until around 1968. It is believed that no further surveys were undertaken during this 
process which would have recorded additional routes which may have come into existence.  
 

 

Page 33



10 
 

APPENDIX 4 
 

Analysis of User Evidence Forms and correspondence 
 
Submitted with the initial application were 12 User Evidence Forms which the applicant 
believed supported the use that had and is still being made of this route. In addition to these 
10 letters were submitted supporting the application.  Following the letters sent for Pre-
consultation on 29th August 2019, a further 15 forms were submitted in support of the claim 
that the route A-B should be recorded as a Footpath. 
 
A detailed analysis of these forms has been undertaken, together with detail of the content 
of the letters of support and are attached as Document 4. 
 
It should be noted that two of the 27 User Evidence forms illustrated a different route on the 
map to that which is being claimed, and one omitted sending a location map. These have 
been disregarded from this analysis. It should also be noted that two of the additional forms 
are duplicates of ones submitted earlier.  
 
The earliest claimed use of the route dates back to 1960, with the latest use being to date. 
All these users claim to have used this route on foot. 
 
No recollection was made on these forms of the route being obstructed or unusable. 
However, there is evidence that a notice was erected stating ‘private property/no 
trespassers’ in February 2000, prior to the submission of the application in April 2000. 
 
Accepting that the date of challenge for the route A-B was February 2000, it is necessary to 
look at the period 1980-2000. 18 out of the 22 User Forms submitted suggest use for 20 
years or more.  
 
As can be seen in Document 4, the usage made of this route varied between daily use, a 
couple of times a week and a few times a year. 6 users claimed to have used this route 
daily; 8 users claimed to have used this route a couple of times a week; the remaining 8 
users claimed to have used this route on a monthly/yearly basis.  
 
Only one person has noted upon their form that they were stopped when using this route 
and advised it was not a Footpath, but the owner allowed them to continue.  
 
In Evidence Form 7, the user has stated that in 1975 they grazed a pony, permission given 
by the landowner. This is also supported by another user (Evidence Form 25) who stated 
that horses used to graze the whole area when they were younger. 
 
This same user in Evidence Form 25 was also the only other user to have been given 
permission to use the route in 2018.  
 
The 10 letters of support provide clear information as to the use which has been enjoyed 
over this route.  These letters were clearly written following the erection of notices in 2000.  
The use stated upon them ranges back to 1970, recalls the existence of stiles being erected 
by the council and that Hawthorn Gardens was built around 1972.  These letters provide 
information around the use that has been enjoyed, but also the status which the user 
believed existed. 
 
 

Page 34



11 
 

Submission Objection or 
Supporter 

Extracts of comment 

SL1 Supporter Used since 1970 – For Exercise and pleasure – 
Pony grazing kept vegetation under control – 
Permission given to volunteers to clear intrusive 
undergrowth – stiles placed top and bottom, 
footrest later removed 

SL2 Supporter Used infrequently since 1988, until 1997 then 
daily with dog – January 2000 yellow plastic 
notice posted top and bottom. 

SL3 Supporter Resided here for 20 years – used footpath for all 
that period 

SL4 Supporter Sign appeared denying access up the hill to 
Worlebury Golf Course – moved to Hawthorn in 
1986 – used prior to that from the mid 1970’s 
onwards 

SL5 Supporter Moved to Hawthorn in 1991 – noted signs 
denying access – led to believe that the stiles 
erected previously were placed by the council 
together with the conservation notice – wish to 
continue use of the countryside 

SL6 Supporter Walked this path for 30 years – aware that this is 
private land and not a public footpath – but has 
walked it with others 

SL7 Supporter Sudden appearance of notices – path existed for 
40/50 years (confirmed by others) – existed since 
Hawthorn Gardens built 28 years ago – Stiles 
erected by council – Conservation notice erected 
– work undertaken by work parties – path used 
every day all year round – may be private 
property but Right of Way always been there 

SL8 Supporter Made application to NSC to establish Right of 
Way – Been a resident of Hawthorn for 28 years – 
daily use – no hinderance – believe it to be a 
public right of way- stiles either end established 
by local authority many years ago – met previous 
owners. 

SL9 Supporter  Attended auction where land was sold and bought 
by Mr Wells, believed to be 2004). Confirmed that 
the existence of the path was brought to the 
auctioneers attention – lives adjacent to the path 
since 1973 – confirms that path has been used 
frequently by others but not themselves 

SL10 Supporter Recalls a petition signed in 2000 by the residents 
confirming use of the path on a regular basis – 
feels that owners dogs and gun fire at that time 
was intimidating – would like to see this shown on 
the Definitive Map  

 
The full content of these letters submitted has been included in Document 4. 
 
Therefore taking 2000 as the date of challenge it would appear from the User Evidence 
Forms and the letters of support that the test under Section 31 of the Highways Act has 

Page 35



12 
 

been met. From the evidence submitted by the users, there is correspondence held on file, 
that a notice was erected at the top and bottom of the claimed route in early 2000, which 
seems to follow an act of placing ‘yellow plastic notices’ at either end of the route in 
question. Who placed those yellow notices is unknown? It is unclear exactly what these 
notices said however the presumption being that they challenged public use.  
 
These users also make recollection of the existence of stiles at each end of the route, 
presuming that these had been installed by the Council, no confirmation has been found to 
confirm this.  However, it is known that for a period of time this area was known as a 
Conservation Area, therefore those managing the site may well have been instrumental in 
the installation of the stiles.  Those stiles are not in situ today, just the gap where they use 
to once be. 
 
It is further known that this land was sold at auction in 2004 and has remained in the 
ownership of the current holder since then. Information given by one of the supporters 
confirms that the existence of the footpath was discussed at the auction, therefore the belief 
that this route was a route used by the public was made known to the owners when they 
purchased the land.   
 
Upon initial ownership by the new owners, gates and signs were placed on site to deter 
public use. However, these have not been maintained and the public have continued to use 
the claimed route. Whilst the owners do not accept that this route has become a public right 
of way, they have been inactive in denying access and it is still being used by the public 
today.  
 
 
  

Page 36



13 
 

APPENDIX 5 
 
Consultation and Landowner Responses  
 
Pre- Order Consultation letters were sent on the 29th August 2019 to neighbouring land 
owners, local user groups and utility companies. 
 
The following parties responded to this consultation, the content of their response also 
being recorded.  
 
Name Objection or 

Supporter 
Comments 
 
 

Mrs V Craggs No Objection No Problem 
 

Wales & West 
Utilities  

Comment We enclose an extract from our mains records of the area covered 
by your proposals together with a comprehensive list of General 
Conditions for your guidance. This plan shows only those pipes 
owned by Wales & West Utilities in its role as a Licensed Gas 
Transporter (GT). Gas pipes owned by other GT's and also 
privately owned may be present in this area. Information with 
regard to such pipes should be obtained from the owners. The 
information shown on this plan is given without obligation, or 
warranty, the accuracy thereof cannot be guaranteed, service 
pipes, valves, syphons, stub connections, etc., are not shown but 
their presence should be anticipated. No liability of any kind 
whatsoever is accepted by Wales and West Utilities, its agents or 
servants for any error or omission. 
 
Safe digging practices, in accordance with HS(G)47, must be 
used to verify and establish the actual position of mains, pipes, 
services and other apparatus on site before any mechanical plant 
is used. It is your responsibility to ensure that this information is 
provided to all persons (either direct labour or contractors) 
working for you on or near gas apparatus. 
 

Virgin Media No Objection Virgin Media and Viatel plant should not be affected by your 
proposed work and no strategic additions to our existing network 
are envisaged in the immediate future. 
 

Bristol Water No Objection We confirm that we have no objection to the proposed order at 
Hawthorn Gardens, Weston-Super-Mare. 
 

Atkins Telecoms No Objection Please accept this email as confirmation that Vodafone: Fixed 
does not have apparatus within the vicinity of your proposed 
works detailed below. 
 

National Grid No Objection Searches based on your enquiry have identified that there is no 
record of apparatus in the immediate vicinity of your enquiry. 
Cadent and National Grid therefore have no objection to these 
proposed activities. 
 

Mr E Sage 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Support  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Confirmation of this footpath has been long awaited with various 
correspondence going back to April 2000. The Footpath 
concerned has been used by me and my family for 47 years as a 
resident of 12 Hawthorn Gardens.  
I previously used the same footpath as a young boy and early 
teenager, being a local person, for access to Worlebury Hill – 
there were official stiles and footpath signs at both ends – these 
were in situ for many years. The stile and sign adjoining footpath 

Page 37



14 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Mr E Sage  
(20.11.20) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Mr & Mrs Linham 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Support 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Support 

AX 31/33 was in existence until the day before auction of the 5-
acre area that was purchased at that time. 
The footpath is currently being used more than ever by school 
students using it as somewhat of a shortcut to their homes in 
Worlebury and by numerous dog walkers and others as a nature 
and exercise varied walk/climb. 
Location Plan – MOD 41 or OS Licence No. LA 09063L dated 15th 
February 2000, I believe shows the footpath at that time. 
As further confirmation I enclose 2 photographs of the stiles that I 
took in possibly 2004 – A being the one situated at the head of the 
cul-de-sac in Hawthorn Gardens and B the one that stood 
adjoining Pathway AX 31/33 – Both these stiles had official signs 
attached, the top one only being smashed at the time previously 
indicated.  
As a continued resident of Hawthorn Gardens, now in my 80s, I 
would be delighted to see this footpath officially designated once 
again. 
 
With reference to the above I would just add just a few points 
before Council Sub-Committee on Tuesday 24th November 2020. 
 
The 17th November 2020 marked the date of my using this 
footpath for 48 years as a resident of 12 Hawthorn Gardens. 
 
Since the start of the Covid 19 Epidemic the path has been used 
by numerous people-- Walkers, Runners and, of course, Dog 
Walkers. the numbers must be in the hundreds over that period. 
My wife and I have been amazed at the fact that the numbers 
included people we hadn't seen before, obviously being given 
knowledge of the path by regular users. 
 
With the government concerned about the mental and physical 
state of the British people I would suggest that paths and spaces 
are very beneficial, particularly at a time we are facing at this 
present moment. 
 
This footpath is a joy to walkers from this area and would be 
sorely missed should access be denied. 

 
Current Landowners 
 
Discussion has taken place with the owners of the land to try to establish whether they were 
willing to dedicate this route which is being used by the public. Through those discussions, 
the landowners have expressed their concerns about a legal public right of way being 
recorded. Those concerns relate to;  

• Users leaving the defined line and wandering over other parts of their land, which do 
not have public access.  

• The area being designated as a SSSI (Special Site of Scientific Interest) and the 
impact that users would have on the flora and fauna. However, no evidence has 
been found to support this.  

• Concerns around health and safety issues on a part of the route with an exposed 
bedrock surface and what their public liability would be if this route is recorded as a 
public right of way. 

• This area is also subject to Tree Preservation Order (TPO No. 865, W1). 
 
Through those discussion with the landowners, requests were made as to whether signage 
could be erected, asking users to keep to the path; whether post and wired fencing could be 
erected bordering the claimed route; pedestrian gates could be installed at both ends and a 

Page 38



15 
 

handrail installed at the Hawthorn Gardens end (point A) where the exposed bedrock is 
located. 
 
To address these concerns, Officers visited the site to assess whether these requests could 
be met. It was felt that all of these could be achieved other than the post and wired fencing. 
Such fencing could restrict and could hinder the animals (badgers, deer etc.) which 
currently roam freely over this land. This was relayed back to the landowners.  
 
Despite these efforts, the landowners cannot agree to dedicating this route as a public 
footpath, therefore, this matter needs to proceed as a Definitive Map Modification Order. 
 
Further communication has been received from the owners of the land.   
 
Wells 
Family 

To whom it may concern, 
 
I am writing to you on behalf of my family; the owners of the land on which the council 
propose to open up a public footpath. After my family spent a large sum of money 
securing the land for our family and friends to benefit from, we have enjoyed giving 
numerous friends and individuals permission to not only walk the paths but also enjoy 
the woodland. We have also just given permission to a local charity project to allow 
adults with learning difficulties to use the area, as a safe and private area to support 
their outdoor recreation.  
 
As we already own a foot path a very short distance from the proposed one which 
brings access to the same lane from the lower houses, there is absolutely no need for 
an additional footpath or to have our privacy interrupted by the public.  
 
We had previously suggested we would consider the foot path if it was to be fenced. We 
have paths that we all use regularly that cross the proposed path and it will be virtually 
impossible to stop people entering the adjacent privately owned land. We have big 
concerns that if the private path is made open to the public, then they will branch of it. 
This would then I would imagine lead to more similar statements of historic use. Which 
would put us in this situation again. 
 
During a conversation with yourselves, I was told that there was no chance of this fence 
being put up. Maybe, if you had spent that sum securing the land in the first place then 
you would have had a different view on this-to give the excuse of wildlife not roaming 
freely through or over stock-fencing amazes me and shows what a lack of wildlife 
management they have. The council also said they wouldn’t be willing to spend that 
amount of money on fencing which I believe to be the real reason. 
 
We have had to clear bags of dog faeces from our woods where the people who abuse 
this route just throw it in our vegetation and we regularly clear rubbish that gets 
dumped. Only last year, we had to remove a homeless person from the woods and 
experience finding needles in the woods while my children were there. The police were 
great and very helpful. I don’t feel we would have received the same level of support 
had we approached the council based on the lack of support with this. 
 
Another issue that concerns me greatly is the animal management that is carried out by 
myself and other individuals, we carry out legal vermin control and conservation which 
requires shooting, this could be upsetting for members of the public to witness and 
hinder our activities.  
 
With reference to the historically dated statements requiring access of the path, I have 
no idea exactly what more we were supposed to have done to stop them trespassing 
when signs were put up and illegally removed. People were told repeatedly that it was 
private land but obviously showed no respect for this and carried on of their own free 
will. On one occasion, my mother was assaulted by a member of the public and 
physically pushed to the floor when she asked them to leave the private land. The police 
were involved. 
 

Page 39



16 
 

We had to give up keeping animals that were on our hillside field opposite after 
numerous dog attacks to livestock, we had no choice. Now we are being asked to give 
our agreement to a full access unfenced footpath through our privately owned 
woodland. With plans to graze Pinehill in the future this will not be possible with the 
path and free roaming dogs. 
 
Recently, I have been speaking to many other landowners who have this awful situation 
of people accessing privately owned land and then the council wanting to open these 
foot paths. It seems a completely unfair situation when land is purchased privately. 
 
The bottom of the suggested path is a solid bedrock and very precarious. We would not 
think it fit to walk without danger of injury. When wet, the stone is very slippery with 
nothing to hold onto. I would assume the council would be liable for any injures that 
occur here, but apparently not even though it is they that want to give public access to 
an unsafe route. 
With all these points raised, our concluding opinion is that we strongly object such 
plans of a path. 
 
I look forward to hearing from you and discussing this further at any future meetings 

 
 
. 
 
  

Page 40



17 
 

APPENDIX 6 
 

Summary of Evidence and Conclusion 
 
This application submitted by Mr E Sage claiming that this route should be recorded on the 
Definitive Map as a Footpath was initially supported by 12 User Evidence Forms, letters of 
support and later in 2019, a further support of 15 User Evidence Forms. As previously 
mentioned, five of those user evidence forms have been discarded. The remaining 22 are 
claiming Footpath status. 
 
Summary of Documentary Evidence 
 
The Definitive Map Process which commenced in 1950, which was undertaken by Parish 
Council members, did not record this route with any status.  Therefore, around this time it 
would appear that any use by the public was so limited that those officers did not know of its 
existence. The user evidence forms show that claimed use began during the Definitive Map 
process, the earliest use being recorded as 1960. There is obvious conflict between the 
Definitive Map evidence and that of the user evidence forms. However, as previously 
mentioned, it is believed that no further survey was undertaken after 1950. 
 
Therefore, the Definitive Map process does not assist in establishing whether there was an 
existing route. 
  
Summary of User Evidence 
 
It is known that this route provides an important link to the residents connecting to other 
public rights of way in the area. 18 of the 22 user evidence forms show 20 years use or 
more before the year 2000. Such use whether made daily, weekly, monthly or yearly, 
presents a picture of a route which has been used unobstructed. The tabular form 
(Document 4) detailing the content of those user evidence forms, provide information 
relating to the existence of stiles, erection of notices, acts which stopped use, as well as 
permissions given. Only two of these users refer to permission. The initial 12 user evidence 
forms submitted, refer to the existence of a 5-bar gate at the Hawthorn Gardens end, which 
could be opened for access. No one claims that this was locked at any time. Photographs 
submitted with the application in April 2000, show the 5-bar gate at one end and a stile at 
the other. Those photographs show the yellow sign headed ‘private property’. 
 
Summary of Consultation and Landowner responses 
 
The correspondence which was submitted with the application and attached to this report 
clearly illustrates that this route has been used.  Whether that use was in the belief that this 
was a route which was already recorded as a Public Right of Way or by permission of the 
owner of the land has been enjoyed as far back as 1970.   
 
The current owners of the land, who acquired this in 2004, although having initially 
attempted to dissuade use, have not maintained that stance and are aware that use is 
being made of it.  The basis of their objection is around land management, maintenance, 
and liability. 
 
Section 31 (1) of the Highways Act 1980 provides that, “Where a way over land, other than 
a way of such character that use of it by the public could not give rise at common law to any 
presumption of dedication, has actually been enjoyed by the public as of right and without 
interruption for a full period of twenty years, the way is deemed to have been dedicated as a 

Page 41



18 
 

highway unless there is sufficient evidence that there was no intention during that period to 
dedicate it”. 
 
Section 31 (2) states, “the period of twenty years referred to in subsection (1) above is to be 
calculated retrospectively from the date when the right of the public to use the way is 
brought into question whether by a notice or otherwise”. 
 
Section 31 (3) states, “Where the owner of the land over which any such way as aforesaid 
passes- 

(a) has erected in such manner as to be visible by persons using the way a notice 
inconsistent with the dedication of the way as a highway; and 

(b) has maintained the notice after the 1st January 1934, or any later date on 
which it was erected, 

 
the notice, in the absence of proof of a contrary intention, is sufficient evidence to negative 
the intention to dedicate the way as a highway. 
 
The user evidence forms seem to verify that the provisions of Section 31 have been met. 
The erection of the yellow sign in 2000 being the action which brought the use of this route 
into question is deemed to be the date of challenge.  
  
The evidence submitted confirms that in 2000 notices were displayed on site which would 
have satisfied Section 31(3) however, those notices were not maintained. Similarly, 
attempts from the present owners have been intermittent, their efforts being since 2004 
outside of the period 1980 - 2000. 
 
Taking into consideration all the information detailed within this report, this route has clearly 
been used for 20 years or more and should be recorded as a Public Footpath. 
 
Conclusion 
 
Having regard for the legal test that should be applied in respect of the route A-B “does a 
route subsist or is reasonably alleged to subsist”. Whilst there is no historical evidence to 
show that a route was evident on the ground, the user evidence which has been submitted 
supports public rights having been established over it. 
 
Taking 2000 as the date of challenge it is necessary to look at the period 1980-2000. The 
user evidence claims use from 1960, some of which covers the period to date. However, as 
notices were placed in 2000, that is the period which must be assessed. 13 of these users 
claim to have used this route during the period of 1980-2000. Those 13 represent over 50% 
of the claimed use. 11 of these 13 make reference to the erection of the yellow signs. 
 
Similarly, the letters of support which have been detailed illustrate that this route has been 
open and available to anyone who would wish to use it within the defined period of 1980 – 
2000. 
 
Until the action of the owners of the land in 2000 erecting the private property notice, this 
route was open and available for users. The erection of such notices has the effect of 
calling the route into question but can only nullify the route if 20 years use has not been 
established. In this case, the user evidence suggests use going back to 1960. 
 
Having evaluated this evidence it is felt that there is sufficient evidence to raise the 
presumption of dedication of Footpath status. 

Page 42



19 
 

DOCUMENT 1  
DEFINITIVE MAP PROCESS – DRAFT MAP 

 
 

 
 
 
 

A
 

B
 

Page 43



20 
 

 
DOCUMENT 2 

DEFINITIVE MAP PROCESS – DRAFT MODIFICATIONS MAP 
 

 
 

A
 

B
 

Page 44



21 
 

DOCUMENT 3 
DEFINITIVE MAP – RELEVANT DATE 26 NOVEMBER 1956 

 
 

 
 
 

A
 

B
 

Page 45



22 
 

 
DOCUMENT 4 

USER EVIDENCE TABLE 
(Columns that are shaded grey are User Evidence Forms that have been disregarded) 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

User Evidence 
Form 

E1 E2 E3 E4 E5 E6 
DUPLICATE OF 
E14 

Believed status 
of route 

Footpath Footpath Footpath Footpath Footpath Footpath 

Used the routes 1982 - 2000 1971 - 2000 1972 - 2000 1971 - 2000 1971 - 2000 1979 -2000 
Reason Pleasure Pleasure Pleasure Pleasure Pleasure Pleasure 
Frequency 
Per Year 
Weekly 
Daily 

 
 
 
 
7 days a week 

 
12 x 86 -2000 
 
 
1971-1986 

 
 
 
3 x a week 

 
18 x per year 

 
15 – 20 x per 
year 

 
 
 
Most days 

Method On Foot On Foot On Foot On Foot On Foot On Foot 
Obstructions? 
Stiles 
Gates 

 
Yes, both ends 
5 bar gate 

 
Yes, both ends 
Yes, each end 

 
Yes, both ends 
5 bar gate 

 
Yes, both ends 
Yes Hawthorn 

 
Yes, both ends 
Yes, Hawthorn 

 
Yes, both ends 
No 

Working for 
landowner? 

No N/A No No No No 

Ever stopped or 
turned back 

No No No – free use 
for 28 years 

No No No 

Told by anyone 
that it was not 
public 

No No No No No No  

Locked gates? No No No No No No 
Notices? Yes, but not until 

fairly recently, I 
believe Feb 2000 

Yes, Part of 
Conservation 
Area. This is 
not a right of 
way Feb 2000 

Approx 2 yrs 
ago at both 
ends of path – 
Part of Area of 
Conservation. 
This is not a 
right of way 
Feb 2000 

A conservation 
notice about 2 
yrs ago and a 
notice No 
public right of 
way 1 month 
ago. 

Only very 
recently 

Only current 

Given 
permission 

No No No No No No 

Private right to 
use 

No No No No No No 

Other 
Information 

If landowner 
visited the site, it 
would have been 
obvious it was 
well used 
footpath. Always 
believed it to be 
a public right of 
way. 

I have been 
informed by 
long standing 
local residents 
that prior to 
the houses in 
Hawthorn 
Gardens being 
built, the path 
continued to 
Pine Hill and 
has been in 
constant use 
since 1950 

I have used 
this right of 
way with my 
family and 
numerous 
other local 
people for a 
period of 28 
years. 
However, I 
have also 
known this 
pathway via 
Pine Close 
(now Pine Hill) 
for approx. 50 
years. 

We used the 
footpath about 
8 times a year 
when we lived 
in Hawthorn 
Gardens 1971 
-1998 and we 
continue to 
use it as a 
walk from our 
present house. 

I have lived at 
this address for 
29 years & have 
seen this path 
used by many 
people 
exercising their 
dogs etc. on a 
regular basis. 

Popular 
walkway in fairly 
constant use. 

Page 46



23 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

User Evidence 
Form 

E7 E8 E9 
DUPLICATE 
OF E13 

E10 E11 E12 

Believed status 
of route 

Footpath Footpath Footpath Footpath Footpath Footpath 

Used the routes 1960 - 2000 1976 - 2000 1984 - 2000 1973 - 2000 1980 - 2000 1970 - 2000 
Reason Visiting, 

pleasure, natural 
history 

Pleasure & 
Work 

Pleasure Pleasure Pleasure Pleasure  

Frequency 
Per Year 
Weekly 
Daily 

 
 
3 – 4 x a week 

 
Up to 30 x per 
year 
 

 
10 – 20 x per 
year 

 
 
5 x a week 

 
 
Weekends 
 
 

 
20 – 50 x per 
year 

Method On Foot On Foot On Foot On Foot On Foot On Foot 
Obstructions? 
Stiles 
Gates 

 
Yes, both ends 
Yes, Hawthorn 

 
Yes, both 
ends 
No 

 
Yes, both ends 
Yes, Hawthorn 

 
Yes, Hawthorn 
5 Bar gate 

 
Yes, both ends 
Yes Hawthorn 

 
Yes, both ends 
Yes Hawthorn 

Working for 
landowner? 

N/A No No No No No 

Ever stopped or 
turned back 

No No No No No No 

Told by anyone 
that it was not 
public 

No No No No No No 

Locked gates? No No No No No No 
Notices? Not until Feb 

2000 
Not until Jan 
2000 

Yes put up in 
Feb 2000 

First notice 
seen Feb 
2000 
(previously for 
28 years 
nothing) 

Only since Feb 
2000 

Not for 30 years 
or so until early 
2000 when 
notices said 
Private property 
no public right of 
way no liability 
accepted to 
trespassers. 

Given 
permission 

For a month 
1975 grazed a 
pony. 

No No No No No 

Private right to 
use 

No No No No No No 

Other 
Information 

I have used this 
private right of 
way over 40 yrs 
even before the 
Hawthorn 
Gardens houses 
were built. 
People should 
be allowed to 
walk it to 
observe wild 
flowers and 
there are so few 
places left for us 
to walk 

I have used 
the path 
regularly since 
1987. Before 
that I 
occasionally 
used it with 
groups of 
pupils from St 
Martins school 
where I have 
worked as a 
teacher since 
1974. I see 
others use it 
regularly 

Because of the 
stile at the top 
end of the path 
presumably 
fitted by the 
Council, I had 
always 
assumed that 
the path was a 
public right of 
way 

My husband 
used this way 
nearly daily for 
28 yrs. My 
children used 
it for the 
duration they 
lived here 
since with their 
children. 

My family have 
been using this 
path/route for 
more than 20 
yrs. 

I have lived at 
my present 
address for 
thirty years and 
have seen many 
walkers use the 
path on a 
regular basis. 

Page 47



24 
 

 
 

User Evidence 
Form 

E13 E14 E15 E16 E17 
INCORREECT 
ROUTE 
DEPICTED 
ON PLAN 

E18 
DUPLICATE 
OF E3 

Believed status 
of route 

Footpath Footpath Footpath Footpath Footpath Footpath 

Used the routes 1984 - 2019 1981 - present Late 1970s - 
present 

1999 - present 2005 - 2019 1922 - present 

Reason N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 
Frequency 
Per Year 
Weekly 
Daily 

 
Monthly 

 
 
 
Daily 

 
 
Weekly 

 
 
Prior to 2011 
From 2011 

 
 
 
Daily 

 
 
 
Daily 

Method On Foot On Foot On Foot On Foot On Foot On Foot 
Obstructions? 
Stiles 
Gates 

 
Yes, at the top 
No 

 
Yes, both ends, 
now 
deteriorated 
No 

 
No 
No 

 
Maybe between 
70- 75 

 
Yes, first seen 
about 25 yrs 
ago 

 
Yes, both ends 
No 

Working for 
landowner? 

No No No No No No 

Ever stopped or 
turned back 

No No No No No Yes – only 
when pathway 
at point A was 
blocked by 
trees/branches 

Told by anyone 
that it was not 
public 

No No – attended 
auction when 
current owners 
purchased the 
land. They were 
made fully 
aware of the 
established use 
and access. 

No Yes – I have in 
the past been 
warned by the 
landowner not to 
touch any twigs 
or branches on 
the route. 

No Yes – By 
current owner 
in aggressive 
manner, when 
challenged 
about blocking 
the pathway 
and breaking 
down of stile 
and signs. 

Locked gates? No No No No No No 
Notices? When fence was 

erected, sign 
saying ‘private’ 
but we carried 
on using the 
path 

None No Yes – over the 
course of the 
period there 
were signs 
erected aimed at 
preventing use 
of route. 

No Yes, there were 
official council 
signage plus 
proper access 
stiles at Point A 
and B. Was in 
situ before land 
was auctioned. 

Given 
permission 

No No No No No No 

Private right to 
use 

No No No No No No 

Other 
Information 

A fence erected 
10-20 yrs ago 
was easily 
climbable that 
eventually fell 
apart. Used 
regularly for 35 
yrs. It is always 
well worn which 
is evidence of 
use. For a time 
there was a 
fence with a sign 
but no real 
attempt has ever 
been made to 
prevent its use.  

Since moving to 
Hawthorn 
Gardens in 
1981. I have 
used path daily 
and knew of its 
existence and 
used it on 
occasions 
previously. I 
have always 
considered this 
as an 
established 
right of way. 

 As a keen 
walker and dog 
owner I was ask 
the OMA to 
consider the 
numerous 
people living 
nearby the 
route. It has 
been used for 
over 50 years 
and is a still very 
much valued 
route from our 
houses to much 
used footpaths 
around the hill. 

Have used this 
path for the 
last 14 years 
on a daily 
basis. 

As per letter 
and items 
previously sent. 
Refers to 
evidence of use 
forms etc. Sent 
to council in 
2003/04. 

Page 48



25 
 

 
 

User Evidence 
Form 

E19 E20 E21 E22 E23 
INCORRECT 
ROUTE 
DEPICTED 
ON PLAN 

E24 

Believed status 
of route 

Footpath Footpath Footpath Footpath Footpath Footpath 

Used the routes 2001 - present 1996 - present 2018 - 2019 1993 - 2019 2011 - 2019 2016 - present 
Reason       
Frequency 
Per Year 
Weekly 
Daily 

 
Monthly 
Weekly 
Daily – Depends 
on training 

 
 
 
Daily 

 
 
2 – 3 x a week 

 
 
2 -3 x a week 

 
Monthly 

 
 
 
Daily 

Method On Foot On Foot On Foot On Foot On Foot On Foot 
Obstructions? 
Stiles 
Gates 

 
Used to be at 
either end 

 
Yes 
No 

 
No 
No 

 
Yes – both ends 

 
No 
No 

 
Unsure 
No 

Working for 
landowner? 

No No No No No No 

Ever stopped or 
turned back 

No No No  No No No 

Told by anyone 
that it was not 
public 

No No No No No No 

Locked gates? No No No N/A No No 
Notices? No No Yes – Part of a 

sign (ends 
broken off) 
where the 
application 
route meets 
Worlebury Hill. 
Only visible if 
walking 
downhill. 

Sign was in 
place about 
15yrs ago which 
has fallen into 
disrepair at the 
top of route 
ST347630 

No Don’t know 

Given 
permission 

No No No No No No 

Private right to 
use 

No No No No No No 

Other 
Information 

My family have 
used this FP for 
18 yrs. When my 
husband is 
training, he runs 
up there as a 
shortcut to sand 
bay most days. 
We see several 
people walking 
up there. Last 
week my 
husband 
witnessed a 
school minibus 
park in our road 
and the children 
headed up there 
for an hour. Also 
see dog walkers 
even cyclists 
carrying their 
bikes. As far as 
we are aware 
the path has 
been used for 
many years. 

Until now I was 
not aware that it 
wasn’t a public 
right of way. I 
remember a 
stile at the top 
when I was 
younger and I 
think there 
might have 
been a stile at 
the bottom too 
but I’m not 
sure. 

We can see 
the entrance to 
the application 
route from our 
house, so we 
can see the 
route is in very 
regular use by 
walkers, dog 
walkers, 
families and 
children. We 
see people 
using the route 
daily to get up 
Worlebury Hill 
through the 
woods. 

When I started 
using it in 1992 I 
believed it to be 
a public right of 
way which was 
well maintained 
over the last 15 
years it has 
been maintained 
to the same 
standard but it is 
still a 
serviceable 
pathway.  

We have used 
this route as 
access/egress 
to the circular 
route around 
Worlebury Golf 
course for over 
7 years as part 
of our regular 
dog walking 
route. 

N/A 

Page 49



26 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

User Evidence 
Form 

E25  E26 E27 

Believed status 
of route 

Footpath Footpath Footpath 

Used the routes 1966 - present 1966 - present 1976 - present 
Reason    
Frequency 
Per Year 
Weekly 
Daily 

 
Monthly 

 
Monthly 

 
 
 
Daily 

Method On Foot On Foot On Foot 
Obstructions? 
Stiles 
Gates 

 
Yes – either end 
No 

 
Yes – either end 
No 

 
No 
No 

Working for 
landowner? 

No No No 

Ever stopped or 
turned back 

Yes – once told 
by the owner we 
were not entitled 
to use the route 
but said they 
would allow 
them to continue 

No No 

Told by anyone 
that it was not 
public 

Yes – the owner No No 

Locked gates? No No No 
Notices? Yes – when the 

land was bought 
by the current 
owners 

Yes – a notice 
saying ‘private’ 
and ‘Trespassers 
will be 
prosecuted’ when 
the present 
owner bought the 
land 

No 

Given 
permission 

Yes – By owner 
in 2018 

No No 

Private right to 
use 

No No No 

Other 
Information 

I have lived in 
my property for 
53 years and 
never had a 
problem using 
the path before it 
was bought. In 
the past when 
we were younger 
my husband and 
I used it 
frequently, 
horses grazed 
the whole area 
and the hill was 
in good condition 
and provided a 
lovely area to sit 
and admire the 
view across the 
mendips. 

Having spoken to 
a number of long-
time residents 
this footpath has 
been used for a 
lot longer than 
the 53 years that 
I have used it. I 
think it is 
important for 
future 
generations that 
it is designated 
as a public right 
of way.  

One of the 
reasons I moved 
to Hawthorn 
Gardens was 
due to access 
(using proposed 
pathway) to 
Worlebury 
woods, I use this 
footpath 
regularly to walk 
my dogs, visit 
my father in 
Pleshey Close 
and my 
daughter in 
Worlebury they 
also use the 
pathway to visit 
me. If it was 
closed, we 
would all have to 
use our cars. 

Page 50



27 
 

Content of Supporting Letters 
 

Submission 
Letters 

Objection or 
Supporter 

Comment 

SL 1 
Dated 7th Feb 
2000 

Supporter I was surprised and dismayed to read the above notice refusing access to 
the footpath.  I have lived at this address for thirty years since 1970.  We, 
that is my wife and family, have frequently used the footpath for exercise 
and pleasure.  We have walked to view the various wildflowers that grow on 
the hill throughout the year, to gain access to other footpaths on the hill, 
around the observatory to Weston Woods and Sandbay.  At one-time 
ponies grazed on the hill and so stopped the brambles and saplings from 
encroaching on the grassed area.  Unfortunately, in recent years this has 
not happened, and the grassy area have become somewhat overgrown.  
Several years ago, I was one of a group of conservation volunteers who, 
with permission from the landowner cut back some of the intrusive 
undergrowth.  Some years ago, new stiles were placed at the top and 
bottom of the footpath but shortly afterwards the footrest of the lower stile 
was removed as it to discourage access.  Many other walkers in the area 
use this footpath and I feel strongly that the public should be allowed to 
continue to do so. 

SL 2 
Dated 7 
February 2000 

Supporter It has recently been brought to my attention that the footpath that starts in 
Hawthorn Gardens is not a public right of way and there is no longer access 
through to the Bridleways that lead to the Observatory.  This short stretch of 
footpath I have used on an infrequent basis since 1988 when I became a 
resident of Weston super Mare, and almost daily to walk our dogs from 
1997 when we purchased the property we now reside at.  On or around the 
11 January yellow plastic notices were posted at the start of the path in 
Hawthorn Gardens and at the top, where the path joins the Bridleway. (For 
your information the notice at the top has been smashed to pieces.)  I will 
be interest in your comments on this issue and fir the path is a public right 
of way. 

SL 3 
Dated 12 
February 2000 

Supporter I have resided at the above address for some 20 years and I write with 
concern at the notice recently posted at the entrance to the hillside at the 
end of our road.  We have enjoyed the above access for the whole period of 
our residence and indeed before, and therefore wish to register in the 
strongest terms our concern that this facility may be denied. 

SL 4 
Dated 14 
February 2000 

Supporter I was disturbed recently to see a sign appear at the end of Hawthorn 
Gardens.  The sign seems to attempt to deny public access to the footpath 
which leads from Hawthorn Gardens up the hill to the Worlebury Golf 
Course.  I have used the footpath regularly since moving to Hawthorn 
Gardens in 1986.  Prior to that I recall using it to walk with groups of school 
children from St Martins School, Spring Hill, Worle, to Worlebury Woods 
from the mid 1970’s onwards. 

SL 5 
Dated 12 
February 2000 

Supporter My partner and myself have lived in Hawthorn Gardens for nine years and 
in that time have enjoyed many a walk along the footpath surrounding 
Worlebury Golf Course dropping down to the cul-de-sac.  I was therefore 
most distressed to discover the signs stating that the area was private 
property and that the public had no ‘right of way’.  I was also confused, as I 
have been led to believe that the stiles erected a few years ago were placed 
there by the council as was the conservation notice.  I understand that 
disputes over rights of access and rights of ownership can be difficult to 
solve, but surely as long as damage is not done to the path or wildlife, 
which I have never witnessed any personally, could us careful folk of 
Hawthorn Gardens not be permitted to enjoy our countryside? 

SL 6 
Dated 7 March 
2000 

Supporter With regard to the footpath that starts at Hawthorn Gardens and goes up 
over Pine Hill to the top lane, am I right in the rumour I have heard that 
some greedy person has tried to make money out of the owner, something 
about damage from a fallen tree.  How Ignorant.  I would like to say that I 
have walked this path for over 30 years and also studied the wild flowers 
growing on the hill.  I am aware that it is private land and not a public 
footpath but myself and many others have walked it for the allotted time to 
be recognised as a path for use, and we consider ourselves sensible people 

Page 51



28 
 

and because the land is unattended see no harm in this.  I would like the 
owner to be understanding in this matter. 

SL 7 
Dated 4 
February 2000 

Supporter Further to our telephone conversations.  I confirm details regarding the 
“access” from Hawthorn Gardens – to the Public Footpath surrounding 
Worlebury Golf Course at top of Hill.  This follows the sudden appearance 
of a sign stating, “private property – No Public Right of Way – No liability for 
Trespass”. 

• The Right of Way has existed for 40/50 yrs at least (confirmed by 
local individuals) 

• Confirmed existence since Hawthorn Gardens built 28 yrs ago. 
• A few years ago, stiles were erected by the council (the stile at the 

top of path still there) 
• Approx 3 yrs ago a conservation notice appeared, regarding flora & 

fauna on this land, and work parties kept path clear & prevented 
grass being cut etc 

• The path is used every day, all year, by many people – walking 
(with/without dogs), also for access in both directions. 

This may be private property, but the Right of Way has always been there, 
although there are vagaries as far as council information is concerned. 

SL 8 
Dated 25 April 
2000 

Supporter As representative for local residents and numerous others who have made 
use of this pathway over a long period of time we have made application to 
the North Somerset Council that this pathway is established as a “Right of 
Way”.  Having been a resident of Hawthorn Gardens, Worle for 28 years I 
like many others have made almost daily use of this path without hindrance 
over this period believing it to be a public right of way particularly as stiles 
were established at either end of the pathway, I gather by the local 
authority, many years ago.  I understand from the Public Rights of Way 
Dept at North Somerset Council that more informal discussions could take 
place to clarify the situation rather than go through the more formal 
procedure.  If you would wish to do this the contact at the above department 
is Mr R Broadhead.  It was nice to meet Miss Lock and speak to Mr Danby 
on the telephone some few weeks ago and trust all can be resolved in a 
satisfaction and friendly manner. 

SL 9 
Dated 10 
September 
2004 

Supporter My Wife and I attended the auction for this piece of land on Wednesday 
evening, when it was acquired by a Mr Wells.  At the auction, the auctioneer 
announced that Christine Sage had written to the Council pointing out that 
an unofficial footpath had been used over this land for many years.  My 
house is adjacent to the entrance to this footpath, and we have lived at this 
property since October 1973.  During this time, the footpath has been used 
frequently by people walking and/or exercising their dogs.  I would estimate 
that at least twenty people a day use this path, with more than this in the 
summer months.  I hope that this information helps to establish a right of 
way over the land.  Incidentally, my wife and myself do not now use this 
pathway, nor do we have a dog!  I am not sure if I am writing to the correct 
department.  But, if not, perhaps you will be kind enough to pass it on. 

SL 10 
14 December 
2004 

Supporter I ask for urgent consideration to be given to the issue of a footpath on 
Worlebury Hill from Hawthorn Gardens in Worle.  This is a prime site, seen 
from the whole of the valley floor and affecting the whole of Weston super 
Mare.  In April 2000 a petition was signed by a considerable number of 
residents confirming their use of the path on a regular basis over many 
years.  I also confirm my use of the path over a considerable time.  It has 
been brought to my attention that the current owner closed the path and 
prevented access.  At present the owner has reopened the access but 
users continue to feel intimidated by his dogs and the firing of a gun during 
the summer months.  Having the path shown on the North Somerset Maps 
as a public footpath, because of public use, would give the right message to 
the land owner. 

 
 
 

Page 52


	Agenda
	5 Minutes
	7 MOD 34 - Blackberry Lane, Weston-in-Gordano (Secretary of State Order Decision)
	8 MOD 41 - Hawthorn Gardens, Weston-super-Mare
	1. Summary of Report
	2. Policy
	3. Details
	Background
	4. Consultation
	5. Financial Implications
	6. LEGAL POWERS AND IMPLICATIONS
	7. CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS
	8. RISK MANAGEMENT
	9. Equality Implications
	10. Corporate Implications
	11. Options considered


